NO. 46145-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN RING,

Appellant.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR MASON COUNTY

The Honorable Toni Sheldon, Judge  
The Honorable Amber L. Finlay, Judge

---

---

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

---

JENNIFER L. DOBSON  
DANA M. NELSON  
Attorneys for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC  
1908 E Madison Street  
Seattle, WA 98122  
(206) 623-2373

**

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant was denied his due process right to notice where the State failed to include all the essential elements for forgery in the information.

2. Where evidence was seized pursuant to a partially overbroad warrant, the trial court erred in admitting the evidence without first determining whether the searching officer was executing the valid part of the warrant when he seized the evidence.

3. There was insufficient evidence to support two of appellant's convictions for possessing stolen property.

4. There was insufficient evidence to support a conviction for trafficking stolen property.

5. There was insufficient evidence to prove the value element for a possession of stolen property charge.

6. Three of appellant's convictions for bail jumping violate the prohibition against double jeopardy.

7. The Judgment and Sentence sets forth the incorrect date of the offense for two of appellant's convictions.

### Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. It has long been the case in Washington State that one of the elements of forgery is that the written instrument must be of apparent legal efficacy. The State failed to include this legal element in the information when charging appellant with three forgery offenses. Was appellant denied his due process right to proper notice of these charges?

2. Appellant was convicted of possessing a controlled substance. The evidentiary basis of this charge consisted of an aluminum can that had a residue of crystalized white powder. This can was discovered during a search of appellant's property. The search was conducted pursuant to a partially overbroad search warrant. Appellant moved to suppress the evidence. The trial court denied appellant's motion without first determining whether the controlled substance evidence was found while officers were executing the valid portion of the warrant. Did the trial court err when it denied appellant's motion to suppress the drug evidence?

3. Appellant was charged with four counts of possession of stolen property. The "to convict" instructions listed as alternatives means that defendant received, retained, possessed, or concealed stolen property. There was no unanimity instruction. As to two of

the possession counts, the State failed to provide sufficient evidence from which the jury could conclude appellant concealed the property at issue. Was there insufficient evidence to support conviction for these two charges?

4. Appellant was charged with trafficking stolen property. Under the law of this case, the State was required to prove appellant both participated in the theft of the property and was trafficking the property. Whether there was sufficient evidence to prove the trafficking element, the State failed to present evidence linking appellant to the theft of the property. Was there insufficient evidence to support the conviction for trafficking stolen property?

5. To convict appellant of first degree possession of stolen property, the State was required to prove the value of the stolen property exceeded \$5,000. The State failed to prove the market value of the stolen property as to one of the charges. Was there insufficient evidence to sustain appellant's conviction?

6. Appellant failed to appear for court solely on one day. He was charged with four counts of bail jumping because he had charges pending under four separate cause numbers. Washington's bail jumping statute is ambiguous as to whether the unit of prosecution is determined by cause number, or by the number of

times the defendant fails to appear. Does the rule of lenity require the bail jumping statute be interpreted in defendant's favor thereby requiring reversal of three of his bail jumping convictions?

7. The Judgment and Sentence sets the date of the crime for two convictions as "9/28/2013." The information and instructions in this case indicate the date of the offense was September 28, 2012. Should this Court remand for correction of the Judgment and Sentence?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

On October 1, 2012, the Mason County prosecutor charged appellant John R. Ring with two counts of possession of a stolen vehicle (a truck and a motorcycle) and one count of trafficking in stolen property under Cause number 12-1-00398-0. CP 103-106. That information was later amended to include an additional three counts of forgery, one count of first degree possession of stolen property (a trailer), one count of second degree possession of stolen property (various tools, a tire balance machine, irrigation pumps, and a tire mounter), and one count of bail jumping.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Further facts pertaining to the bail jumping charges are included below.

On October 4, 2012, the Mason County prosecutor charged Ring with one count of possession of a controlled substance under Cause No. 12-1-00406-4. CP 137. That information was later amended to include one count of bail jumping. CP 132-35.

Also on October 4, 2012, the Mason County prosecutor charged Ring with two counts of first degree possession of stolen property (a Whacker generator and a Bobcat mini-excavator) under Cause No. 12-1-00408-1. CP 163-64. That information was later amended to include another count of first degree possession of stolen property (a Kubota backhoe) and one count of bail jumping. CP 157-62.

These three cases were consolidated for trial and the jury returned its verdicts on March 4, 2014. Under Cause No. 12-1-00398-0, the jury acquitted Ring of one of count of possessing a stolen vehicle (the motorcycle) and of second degree possession of stolen property (the tools). The jury convicted him of the other charged counts. CP 24-33.

Under Cause No. 12-1-00406-4, the jury convicted Ring of both counts. CP 113-129. Under Cause No. 12-1-00408-1, the jury convicted Ring of all three counts. CP 20-23.

After this trial was completed, Ring was the subject of another trial under cause number 12-1-00407-2.<sup>2</sup> There, appellant was charged with one count of first degree possession of stolen property and one count of bail jumping. See, Appendix A (Information filed under cause number 12-1-00407-2). A jury convicted Ring of both charges, and he was later sentenced at the same time as this case. See, Appendix B (Judgment and Sentence filed under Cause number 12-1-00407-2).

At sentencing, the trial court found the four convictions for bail jumping constituted the same criminal conduct. CP 6. Given Ring's criminal history and his current crimes, his offender score was calculated as 14. RP 1141. The trial court sentenced him to the top of the standard range. RP 1143. Ring's conviction for trafficking garnered the longest confinement period – 83 months. CP 8. This sentence was run consecutively with a conviction under Cause No. 12-1-00407-2. RP 1148. Ring appeals. RP 150.

---

<sup>2</sup> There are overlapping appellate issues between this appeal and appellant's appeal under case number 12-1-00407-2. Appellant has thus moved to link his two appeals so this Court may fully consider his challenge to the exceptional sentence and to three of his bail jumping convictions. Appellant also asks this Court to take judicial notice of the record in appellant's other appeal. To help facilitate this, the relevant documents from appellant's other case are attached as appendices here.

## 2. Substantive Facts

On September 5, 2012, Garrett Rochon contacted the Mason County Sheriff's office to report that his uncle's stolen 1968 GMC truck was listed for sale on Craigslist.com. RP 146, 380. Rochon was certain of this because the pictures accompanying the advertisement revealed the license plate number. RP 146. Rochon informed the deputy that his brother Nicholas Rochon was the legal owner of the truck and his uncle Kelly Lund was the registered owner. RP 145. The truck had been parked on Lund's property while he was in jail. RP 165. It was one of many vehicles stolen from the property during Lund's incarceration. RP 165.

Detective Jeffery Rhoades, the detective assigned to the case, discovered through the Department of Licensing that the truck was registered to John Ring, not Lund. RP 386. The phone number listed on the Craigslist ad belonged to the Ring family. RP 385

Detective Rhoades contacted the Department of Licensing and confirmed that there was an Affidavit of Loss of Title and Release of Interest filed for the truck. The document was purportedly signed by Nicholas Rochon and Kelly Lund and notarized by Sarah Griffin. The Department of Licensing also had a

bill of Sale signed by Lund and Rochon and transferring the truck to Ring. Lund later confirmed he never signed the documents. RP 157, 160.

Detective Rhoads discovered there was a notary in Washington State by the name of Sarah Griffin, but he saw that the notary stamp used on the truck documents had a different expiration date. CP 108. Rhoades also noted the notary signature on the documents did not match Griffin's driver license signature. CP 108. Griffin was contacted and confirmed she did not notarize the documents. RP 390.

Rhoades requested information from the Department of Licensing regarding all vehicles currently registered to Ring. RP 389. He noted the same suspicious notary stamp was used on the Affidavit of Loss and Release of Interest for a 1996 Chevrolet Blazer. CP 109. There was also a bill of sale that appeared to have the forged signatures of Barbara and Douglas Seeger, purported owners of the car. RP 423, 514, 519.

Rhoades also discovered suspicious paperwork for a 2001 Ford F350, also registered to Ring. CP 109. The paperwork claimed the vehicle had been gifted to Ring from Venita McBride. RP 361-62. Rhoades contacted McBride who explained she had



not gifted the car to Ring, and the car in question was parked right outside her house. CP 109. One of the documents filed was an invoice indicating that the truck was old enough to be gifted without tax consequences to the receiver. RP 361-62, 382.

Eventually, Rhoades obtained a search warrant to search Ring's property. CP 214. This was executed on September 27, 2012. RP 214. After an exhaustive 10-hour search, Lund's truck was not found on the property. RP 275, 383. Meanwhile, deputies ran the serial number of every vehicle on the property. RP 402. A motorcycle was the only vehicle seized from the property. RP 215, 387. In addition, deputies seized various tools, a tire balance machine and tire mounter, which they believed to be stolen. RP 232-38, 387. Deputies also seized a can from one of the shipping containers that had a white powdery residue. RP 244-45. It was later confirmed that the residue was methamphetamine. RP 263.

Inside one of the vehicles on Ring's property, deputies located a box of forms that included incomplete Affidavit of Loss Title and Release of Interest forms and Bill of Sale forms. RP 227-31. Some of the forms included the purported notary stamp of Sarah Griffin, while others included a suspicious notary stamp belonging to a "Paul W. Bryan." RP 227-31.

During the search of Ring's property, Rhoades interviewed Ring's wife who said Ring sometimes stores equipment at "Dean's" house. RP 384. Deputies found a paper with Dean's phone number. RP 384. Rhoades ran a check and determined that the phone number belonged to Dean Speaks. RP 385.

Rhoades obtained a warrant to search Speaks' property. RP 275, 385. The warrant was executed the next day. RP 323. Deputies found Lund's truck there. RP 276. They also seized a Bobcat excavator, a utility trailer, a Kubota backhoe tractor, irrigation pumps, and a Whacker generator. RP 277-53, 386. Speaks said Ring brought these items to his property and asked to store them there. RP 322-26. He said Ring never asked him to hide or conceal these items and did not act suspicious. RP 328-331.

As indicated in the procedural facts, the State eventually brought fifteen charges against Ring. At trial, Ring testified he had a long history of working in the auto repair business. RP 838-40. He had owned a towing business, two impound lots, and an automobile repair shop. RP 838-40. He explained that for years, he had owned the various tools, tire balancing machine and tire moulder that he was charged with stealing. Numerous other

witnesses corroborated his testimony. RP 590-600, 606, 668, 671, 687, 690-91, 749, 756, 758.

Ring also explained that he had obtained the 1968 truck from an individual who advertised it as being for sale with a sign in the window. RP 837. Ring purchased the truck by exchanging a vehicle he owned and paying some cash. RP 900. Two witnesses to the purchase corroborated this. RP 669, 674-77, 681, RP 765-767.

Ring testified he did not have any indication the truck was stolen when he purchased it. RP 859. Ring explained that prior to the purchase, the seller was struggling to find someone to notarize the necessary documents to facilitate the sale, so Ring suggested the seller go to a female notary who was living in a trailer on "Fat Pat's" property. RP 841-42. Ring had used this notary to notarize other documents, and he believed the notary was whom she purported to be, Sarah Griffin. RP 639-40, 644, RP 842, 898. This notary was also used by Ring to notarize the documents on the Chevy Blazer. RP 859. Ring denied forging any of the documents pertaining to the truck or other vehicles. RP 842-43, 861.

Ring further testified that he obtained the stolen motorcycle as a trade with Christopher Smith. RP 844. Ring explained that he

had a motorcycle that was too big for his son to ride, and Smith had a motorcycle that was too small for his child. RP 844. The two agreed to swap. RP 844. Ring's friend Don Cotton was present at the time of the trade and corroborated the swap. RP 789-90, 802. Ring testified he did not know Smith's motorcycle was stolen when he possessed it. RP 845.

Ring also testified that he picked up the other property at issue (i.e. the tractor, excavator, irrigation pumps) through third parties either at estate auctions, or from individuals offering to sell what appeared to be their personal property to raise cash. RP 845-47, 863. Ring testified he was unaware the property had been stolen. RP 879, 927-36.

Ring denied knowing about the can with methamphetamine residue found in the shipping container. RP 872. Ring said he had permitted his friend Don Cotton to live in a portion of the shipping container where the aluminum can was located. RP 849. Cotton confirmed. RP 706. Cotton also admitted he was in recovery for drug addiction and had possessed methamphetamine while on Ring's property, but then asserted his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. RP 693-694.

Ring testified he never forged any of the documents at issue or a notary stamp. RP 854, 962. In support, Ring offered the testimony of Burton Wilson, who admitted he attempted to make a false notary stamp to affix to various documents while at Ring's house. RP 564-65. Wilson acknowledged that he put the fake notary stamp on some of the blank forms found in Ring's possession. RP 575. Wilson testified he acted on his own. RP 580. When Ring found out about it, he told Wilson that he could not fake a notary. RP 855.

C. ARGUMENT

- I. THE INFORMATION DID NOT INCLUDE ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS FOR FORGERY THEREBY DENYING APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.<sup>3</sup>

Constitutional due process requires two conditions to be met when the State charges a crime: (1) the charging document must allege the legal elements of the charged crime; and (2) it must allege sufficient facts to support every element of the crime charged. State v. Leach, 113 Wn.2d 679, 688, 782 P.2d 552 (1989). Proof of the apparent legal efficacy of the document alleged to have been forged is an essential element of forgery.

---

<sup>3</sup> This argument pertains to the three forgery counts under Cause No. 12-1-00398-0.

This element was not included in the information charging Ring. The charging document therefore failed to provide Ring with constitutionally required notice.

(i) Facts

The State charged appellant with three counts of forgery. CP 68-69. Except for specifying the date of the offense and the specific written instrument at issue, the charging language was the same for each charge and read as follows:

In the County of Mason, State of Washington, on or about [date], the above-named defendant, JOHN R. RING, did commit FORGERY, a class C felony, in that the above-named Defendant, with intent to injure or defraud, did falsely make, or alter a written instrument, and/or did possess, utter, offer, dispose of, or put off as true a written instrument which he knew to be forged, said instrument being a [name of document]; contrary to RCW 9A.60.020(1) and contrary and against the peace and dignity of the State of Washington.

CP 68-69.

(ii) Legal Argument

Under the Sixth Amendment, a charging document is constitutionally adequate only if all essential elements of a crime, both statutory and non-statutory, are included so as to apprise the defendant of the charges against him and to allow him to prepare

his defense. See also Wash. Const. art. I, § 22; State v. Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013).

An essential element is one whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior charged. State v. Ward, 148 Wn.2d 803, 811, 64 P.3d 640 (2003). Essential elements include both statutory and non-statutory elements. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101-02, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). “The primary goal of the ‘essential elements’ rule is to give notice to an accused of the nature of the crime that he or she must be prepared to defend against.” Id. at 101. A secondary purpose for the essential elements rule is to bar “any subsequent prosecution for the same offense.” State v. Nonog, 169 Wn.2d 220, 226, 237 P.3d 250 (2010) (internal quotes and citation omitted).

When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of a charging document for the first time on appeal, an appellate court will liberally construe the language of the charging document in favor of validity. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105. “If the document [charging] cannot be construed to give notice of or to contain in some manner the essential elements of a crime, the most liberal reading cannot cure it.” State v. Moavenzadeh, 135 Wn.2d 359, 363, 956 P.2d 1097 (1998) (citation omitted).

In liberally construing the charging document, reviewing courts employ the two-pronged Kjorsvik test, asking: (1) do the necessary elements appear in any form, or by fair construction, on the face of the document; and, if so, (2) can the defendant show he or she was actually prejudiced by the unartful language. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d at 105–06. If the information fails the first prong of the test, prejudice is presumed and the conviction reversed. Zilleyette, 178 Wn.2d at 162.

Here, the information failed to apprise Ring of all the essential elements of the crime of forgery. Specifically, it did not contain in any manner the legal-efficacy element.

Generally, forgery consists of three essential elements: (a) The false making or material alteration (b) with intent to defraud (c) of a writing which, if genuine, might be of legal efficacy. See, United States v. McGovern, 661 F.2d 27, 29 (3d Cir.1981) (recognizing these as the common law elements of forgery); see also, 36 Am.Jur.2d Forgery § 1 (2001) (defining “forgery” to include the same elements). The rule of legal efficacy is a common-law provision supplementing the penal statutes. State v. Smith, 72 Wn. App. 237, 241, 864 P.2d 406 (1993).



For nearly a century, Washington courts have recognized that, to be the subject of a forgery charge, a written instrument must be such that, if genuine, it would appear to have some legal efficacy, or be the basis of some legal liability. E.g., State v. Scoby, 117 Wn.2d 55, 810 P.2d 1358 (1991); State v. Morse, 38 Wn.2d 927, 929, 234 P.2d 478 (1951); Taes, 5 Wn.2d at 54; State v. Kuluris, 132 Wash. 149, 231 P. 782 (1925); State v. Richards, 109 Wn. App. 648, 653-54, 36 P.3d 1119; (2001); State v. Stiltner, 4 Wn. App. 33, 479 P.2d 103 (1971). Where the legal efficacy of the written instrument is not established, Washington courts have concluded there was no chargeable forgery crime. State v. Taes, 5 Wn.2d 51, 54, 104 P.2d (1940); State v. Stiltner, 4 Wn. App. 33, 479 P.2d 103 (1971).

When the Washington Legislature codified the crime of forgery under RCW 9A.60.020, the elements for forgery did not change. RCW 9A.60.020 provides:

- (1) A person is guilty of forgery if, with intent to injure or defraud:
  - (a) He or she falsely makes, completes, or alters a written instrument or;
  - (b) He or she possesses, utters, offers, disposes of, or puts off as true a written instrument which he or she knows to be forged.

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