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

During execution of the search warrant, Deputy Sisson was an assistant to a detective. RP 56-57. Deputy Sisson "assisted at a couple different levels that day. There was a general search of... the area to begin with," and afterward deputies broke off into groups to search specific areas. RP 56. Deputy Sisson was unaware of the exact purpose of the warrant. RP 58. He would later testify that he did not read the search warrant, that it was a "general search," and that he was just "assisting detectives." RP 59. Deputy Sisson testified that no one told him to do a general search; instead, he was just there helping the detective. RP 59.

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 9 -

Deputy Sisson assisted in the search of a Conex shipping container. RP 56-57, 62. Deputies found some possible stolen tools in the container. RP 59. The deputies inventoried the tools and documented the serial numbers "and anything illegal." RP 59. During the search of the Conex shipping container, Deputy Sisson found an aluminum can with a white powder on it, and he immediately recognized the can as drug paraphernalia. RP 57. He didn't have to pick it up or turn it over or examine it more closely; when he saw it, he immediately recognized it as drug paraphernalia. RP 60. This evidence is identified as item "J70" in the inventory of evidence seized pursuant to the warrant. RP 64.

Ring's trial counsel brought a pretrial motion to suppress all evidence seized under the warrant. CP 84-96. The trial court found that the search warrant was overbroad because there was no probable cause to search for contraband. RP 37-38. The trial court found that item 7 of the warrant was overbroad as to controlled substances. RP 40-41. The court accordingly struck item 7 from the warrant and suppressed evidence of the drug paraphernalia, but the court found the remainder of the warrant to be valid. RP 40-41.

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 10 -

At a later hearing, however, the trial court reconsidered its prior ruling and found that the drug paraphernalia was admissible under the plain view exception. RP 70-72. The trial court reasoned that Deputy Sisson was legally searching the Conex container for items that were authorized by the search warrant, at least as far as the search for stolen tools or other stolen property was concerned. RP 71. During this search he stumbled upon the drug paraphernalia, and although a search for drug paraphernalia was not authorized by the search warrant, the deputy immediately recognized the paraphernalia for it was, drug paraphernalia. RP 70-72. It was therefore proper for the deputy to seize the drug can, because he knew it to be an illegal substance, and he discovered it while he was in a place where he had legal authority to be. RP 71-72.

Ring avers that "the trial court correctly found the search warrant was partially overbroad." Br. of Appellant at 27. The State does not challenge the trial court's ruling on this issue, and the State agrees that striking item-7 from the warrant was appropriate on the facts of this case. But the State did not proffer the drug-can evidence based on a claim that it was admissible under *State v. Maddox*, 152 Wn.2d 499, 98 P.3d 1199

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 11 -

(2004). Instead, the State avers that the drug-can evidence was lawfully seized and was lawfully admitted as evidence because it was lawfully discovered when it was found in plain view. RP 63.

Maddox establishes a five-factor test for determining whether the overbroad portions of an overbroad search warrant may be severed from the warrant so that the parts that are not overbroad may still remain valid. *Id.* at 807-08. Ring contends that the drug-can evidence in the instant case was not lawfully seized because, he contends, the State failed to establish the fourth and fifth *Maddox* factors. Br. of Appellant at 26. The fourth and fifth *Maddox* factors are as follows:

Fourth, the searching officers must have found and seized the disputed items while executing the valid part of the warrant (i.e., while searching for items supported by probable cause and described with particularity)....

Fifth, the officers must not have conducted a general search, i.e., a search in which they flagrantly disregarded the warrant's scope.

Maddox, 116 Wn. App. at 807-08.

The State contends that the *Maddox* factors are applicable to the severability doctrine, but not to the plain view exception. "Under the plain view doctrine, an officer must (1) have a prior justification for the

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 12 -

intrusion, (2) inadvertently discover the incriminating evidence, and (3) immediately recognize the item as contraband." *State v. Temple*, 170 Wn. App. 156, 164, 285 P.3d 149 (2012), citing *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 13, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

In the instant case, police discovered the drug-can when they searched the Conex container for stolen tools and other stolen items authorized by the search warrant. RP 56-64, 70-72; Pretrial Ex. 1, Ex. 2. It is apparent that, with or without a separate authorization to search for drugs, police would have searched the Conex container for stolen tools. The Conex container was an appropriate place to search for stolen tools, and stolen tools were, in fact, found during the search. RP 59.

This was not a search where police searched a place where drug evidence might be found but where stolen tools could not logically be found. RP 59. If such were the case, then the State would contend that the fourth and fifth *Maddox* factor would apply to suppress the discovered evidence regardless whether it was drug evidence or stolen property.

Also, if police were searching a place where evidence authorized by the warrant was not likely to be found, which they were not, then

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 13 -

Deputy Sisson's unartful use of the terms "general search" and "anything illegal" would be more problematic. But when confronted with the language he used, Deputy Sisson clarified that "[n]obody told [him] to do a general search." RP 59. He clarified that the evidence sought "was outlined in a warrant" but that "without seeing the warrant" he couldn't "remember what the exact search was for that day." RP 59.

Here, the police inadvertently discovered evidence not specifically authorized by the search warrant while lawfully searching a place where evidence specifically authorized by the search warrant was likely to be found; hence, the State contends that the correct analysis is the plain view analysis rather than the *Maddox* factors. *State v. Higgs*, 177 Wn. App. 414, 433-34, 311 P.3d 1266 (2013), *as amended (Nov. 5, 2013), review denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1024, 320 P.3d 719 (2014); *State v. Temple*, 170 Wn. App. 156, 164, 285 P.3d 149 (2012).

Here, police had prior justification for the intrusion -- they had a valid warrant that authorized a search for stolen tools, and they were searching a place that was authorized by the warrant and was a place where stolen tools would be found. RP 56-64, 70-72; Ex. 1. Regardless

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 14 -

whether item-7 of the search warrant (which purported to authorize a search for drugs) would later be invalidated, the police would have nonetheless lawfully searched the Conex trailer for stolen tools (which was authorized by the warrant). *Id.* Thus, discovery of the drug-can was inadvertent, and the officer recognized it immediately for what it was – illegal contraband. RP 57, 60-61.

On these facts, discovery of the drug-can was a plain view discovery that is an exception to the search warrant requirement, and the trial court did not err by admitting this evidence at trial. *State v. Temple*, 170 Wn. App. 156, 164, 285 P.3d 149 (2012), citing *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 13, 726 P.2d 445 (1986).

3. Ring challenges two of his convictions for possessing stolen property in the first degree because the to-convict jury instructions related to those convictions referenced the word "concealed." Ring contends that inclusion of this term created an alternative means of committing the charged offense, and he alleges that there is insufficient evidence to show that he concealed the stolen property at issue. *Did inclusion of the term "concealed" in the to-convict jury instruction establish an alternative means of committing the charged offense, and if so, was there sufficient evidence to sustain the jury's verdicts?*

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 15 -

Relevant to this issue, in case no. 12-1-00408-1 the State charged Ring with two counts of unlawful possession of stolen property in the first degree, in counts I, and III (which are among other charges, including other counts of possessing stolen property). CP 160-62. Count I alleged that Ring unlawfully possessed a stolen "Wacker Construction Generator[.]" CP 160. Count III alleged that Ring unlawfully possessed a stolen "Kubota tractor, irrigation pump with hoses and air compressor[.]" CP 161. Ring contends that the to-convict instructions related to counts I and III required the State to prove that Ring concealed this property, and he contends that there was insufficient evidence to prove that he concealed the property. Br. of Appellant at 28-29.

Relevant to these counts, the court instructed the jury as follows:

A person commits the crime of possessing stolen property in the first degree when he knowingly possesses stolen property that exceeds \$5,000 in value.

Possessing stolen property means knowingly to receive, retain, possess, conceal, or dispose of stolen property knowing that it has been stolen and to withhold or appropriate the same to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto.

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

CP 50-51 (Jury Instruction No. 28). The corresponding *to-convict* instructions then stated, in relevant part, that an element that must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt in each count was that Ring "knowingly received, retained, possessed, concealed stolen property...." CP 61, 63 (Jury Instructions No. 45, 47). Hence, the definitional instruction (No. 28), contains the disjunctive "or" between "conceal" and "dispose," whereas the elements instructions (No.s 45 and 47) erroneously omit the word "or."

Ring contends that inclusion of the word "conceal" specified an alternative means of committing the offenses of possessing stolen property and that, therefore, to sustain the conviction there must be substantial evidence to support a finding that Ring *concealed* stolen property. Br. of Appellant at 32. To support this contention, Ring cites the 2004, Court of Appeals case of *State v. Lillard*, 122 Wn. App. 422, 93 P.3d 969 (2004). Br. of Appellant at 31-32.

In response, the State contends that there is substantial evidence in the record that Ring concealed the property at issue. Ring concealed the Wacker generator by storing it on a large acreage property that belonged

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext, 417

- 17 -

to another person, rather than storing it on his own property, and it was backed in under some alder trees on this large acreage property. RP 277. The Kubota tractor, also, was stored on this same property, disconnected from Ring. RP 323-24. The State contends that these facts constitute substantial evidence that Ring concealed the generator and backhoe. RP 277, 323-24, 386.

Additionally, the State contends that the 2007, Supreme Court case of *State v. Smith*, 159 Wn.2d 778, 154 P.3d 873 (2007), supports the proposition that inclusion of the term "conceal" in the jury instructions did not create an alternative means that the State was required to prove. *Smith* stands for the proposition that inclusion of the word "conceal" on the facts of the instant case created, at most, a "means within a means" for which "the constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict is not implicated and the alternative means doctrine does not apply." *Smith*, 159 Wn.2d at 783, (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Jeffries*, 110 Wn.2d 326, 339, 752 P.2d 1338 (1988)).

The statutory language that establishes the offense of possession of stolen property in the first degree reads as follows:

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 18 -

(1) A person is guilty of possessing stolen property in the first degree if he or she possesses stolen property, other than a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010 or a motor vehicle, which exceeds five thousand dollars in value.

RCW 9A.56.150. The term "conceal" does not appear in the statute

creating the offense. Instead, the term "conceal" is derived from the

statutory definition of the term "possessing stolen property[,]" as follows:

(1) "Possessing stolen property" means knowingly to receive, retain, possess, conceal, or dispose of stolen property knowing that it has been stolen and to withhold or appropriate the same to the use of any person other than the true owner or person entitled thereto.

RCW 9A.56,140,

The State contends that because the term "conceal" is derived from

the statutory definition of "possessing stolen property," it is not an

alternative means of committing the offense and, therefore, no error

occurred in the instant case based upon inclusion of the term "conceal."

Smith, 159 Wn.2d at 785-86.

4. The State erroneously used the word "and" rather than the word "or" in relation to two alternative means of committing the crime when charging Ring with the crime of trafficking

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 19 -

stolen property in count VI of case no. 12-1-00398-0. The word "and" rather than "or" was also used in the to-convict jury instruction related to this charge. *Accordingly, the law of the case doctrine required the State to prove both means beyond a reasonable doubt, but there was insufficient evidence to prove one of the two required means.*

In count VI of case no. 12-1-00398-0, the State charged Ring with trafficking in stolen property in the first degree, a violation of RCW 9A.82.050. CP 69. The relevant language of RCW 9A.82.050 reads as follows:

A person who knowingly initiates, organizes, plans, finances, directs, manages, or supervises the theft of property for sale to others, *or* [emphasis added] who knowingly traffics in stolen property, is guilty of trafficking in stolen property in the first degree.

RCW 9A.82.050(1).

In the charging document, the State alleged in relevant part that Ring "did knowingly initiate, organize, plan, finance, direct, manage, and supervise the theft of property: to wit: 1968 GMC Truck... *and* [emphasis added] did knowingly traffic in stolen property...." CP 69 (Count VI).

The corresponding to-convict jury instruction also used the work "and" rather than "or". CP 49-50 (Jury Instruction 27 at subsection (1)).

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 20 -

Because the two clauses in the State's charging document are joined by the word "and," and because this error is repeated in the jury instructions, Ring contends that, notwithstanding the use of the word "or" in RCW 9A.82.050(1), the State was required in this case to prove both clauses beyond a reasonable doubt. Br. of Appellant at 34-35. Ring does not dispute that there was sufficient evidence to prove that he knowingly trafficked the stolen pickup truck, but he contends that the evidence was insufficient to prove that he was involved in the theft of the pickup truck. Br. of Appellant at 34-35.

The State agrees that Ring is correct that, because the charging document and the to-convict instruction used the word "and" rather than "or," the State was required to prove both clauses. *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101–02, 954 P.2d 900 (1998) (jury instructions to which the State failed to object are the law of the case, and assignment of error may include a challenge to the sufficiency of evidence of an element added in the instruction); *State v. Ong*, 88 Wn. App. 572, 577–78, 945 P.2d 749 (1997) (same). *See also State v. Barringer*, 32 Wn. App. 882, 887–88, 650 P.2d 1129 (1982) (State assumed burden of proving unnecessary element

State's Response Brief Case No. 46145-5-II

÷

Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 21 -

in its proposed instructions), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Monson, 113 Wn.2d 833, 849–50, 784 P.2d 485 (1989).

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